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FINAL ORDER


The above-captioned matter was heard before the Maryland State Board of Public Accountancy (“the Board”) on April 2, 2024. At the hearing, petitioner, Arrendondo Conrad Austin, sought reinstatement of his license to practice certified public accountancy.  Mr. Austin’s license had been voluntarily surrendered to the Board as documented in a Settlement Agreement and Consent Order he entered into with the Board in 2015.  Pursuant to the terms of that agreement he was required to apply for reinstatement of his license and attend a hearing before the Board in order to have his license reinstated.


Mr. Austin was present and proceeded pro se. Ernie Dominguez, Assistant Attorney General, presented evidence to the Board.  

FINDINGS OF FACT

1)
Mr. Austin was first licensed by the Board to practice certified public accountancy in 1996.


2)
On February 27th 2015, pursuant to the terms of a plea agreement with the United States Department of Justice, Mr. Austin voluntarily surrendered his CPA license to the Board.


3)
As part of the aforementioned plea agreement, Ms. Austin pled guilty to one count of Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371, 1344.
4) 
Mr. Austin was ordered to pay restitution in the amount of $5,001.00, four weekends of incarceration, and five years of probation.

5) 
On April 27, 2015, Mr. Austin entered into a Settlement Agreement and Consent Order with the Board, pursuant to which the Board agreed accept the voluntary surrender of Mr. Austin’s CPA license based upon his agreement that should he seek to have his license reinstated or engage in the practice of certified public accountancy he must apply for reinstatement and attend a hearing on the application before the Board.

6) Following his conviction and surrender of his CPA license, Mr. Austin worked for a time as a car salesman, and since November 2020 he has been employed as the Controller for DH Porter Enterprises LLC dba Staffing Etc.


7) On June 5, 2023, Mr. Austin wrote to the Board requesting reinstatement of his CPA license.
DISCUSSION

As indicated in the April 27th Settlement Agreement and Consent Order, the Board must determine Mr. Austin’s fitness and qualification to engage in the practice of certified public accountancy in light of his criminal conviction and the Board’s statutory and regulatory requirements for licensure.

The Maryland Public Accountancy Act requires that applicants be of good character and reputation. Section 2-315 of the Act sets forth criteria to be considered when an applicant or licensee is convicted of a crime. These include: the nature of the crime; the relationship of the crime to the activities authorized by the license; with respect to a felony, the relevance of the conviction to the fitness and qualifications of the applicant or licensee to practice certified public accountancy; the length of time since the conviction; and the behavior and activities of the applicant or licensee before and after the conviction.

In addition, Maryland law prohibits denying an occupational license or certificate solely on the basis of a conviction “…unless the department determines that: (1) there is a direct relationship between the applicant’s previous conviction and the specific occupational license or certificate sought; or (2) the issuance of the license or certificate would involve an unreasonable risk to property or to the safety or welfare of specific individuals or the general public.” CP § 1-209 (d). Moreover, “[i]f a period of 7 years or more has passed since an applicant completed serving the sentence for a crime … and the applicant has not been charged with another crime other than a minor traffic violation … during that time, a department may not deny an occupational license or certificate to the applicant solely on the basis that the applicant was previously convicted of the crime.” CP § 1-209 (f)(2).
The nature and circumstances of Mr. Austin’s conviction are set forth in considerable detail in Mr. Austin’s plea agreement with the United States Department of Justice and the Statement of The Offense attached thereto, both of which are incorporated in this Final Order. By way of summary, Mr. Austin plead guilty to one count of Conspiracy to Commit Bank Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371, 1344.
Mr. Austin’s conduct, both the conduct that led to his voluntarily surrendering his license, and that subsequent to its surrender, can be objectively determined.  The Board, of course, must make a much more subjective judgment about his present character and the completeness of his rehabilitation. The Board must do so in order to protect the public against any likelihood of future ethical lapses on Austin's part should he be reinstated. 

It must not be forgotten that Mr. Austin was previously found to possess good moral character.  Otherwise, he would not have been licensed by the Board in the first place.  Thus, either the Board erred in its earlier evaluation of his character or the weakness of character producing the misconduct previously failed to manifest itself.  For this reason, Mr. Austin must undergo an even more exacting scrutiny than he did earlier.  
A conviction for bank fraud unquestionably has a nexus to the practice of certified public accountancy, and Mr. Austin’s crime clearly had a relationship to the activities authorized by a CPA license as documented in the Statement of The Offense attached to his plea agreement as well as in his testimony before the Board. On the other side of the ledger, it has been more than nine years since Mr. Austin’s conviction. Mr. Austin has satisfied the terms of his sentence, has not been the subject of another conviction since then, and has taken steps to rehabilitate himself. The conduct that gave rise to his conviction was unquestionably serious and directly related to the practice of certified public accountancy. But it must be noted that Mr. Austin’s role in the overall scheme was relatively small and that he did not profit greatly from his limited involvement. Since the time of his conviction, he has engaged in meaningful work, first by taking work for which he was overqualified, and more recently by working in the field of accounting as the Controller for a company. He also testified that he has taken the ethics course. The Board was impressed by Mr. Austin’s commitment to the profession and his determination to maintain his technical skills.
Mr. Austin was first licensed by the Board in 1996.  By licensing Mr. Austin, the Board made a representation to the public that he was worthy of the trust that they might place in him.  After more than nine (9) years, Mr. Austin asks the Board, by reinstating his license, to once again invest him with the indicia of honesty, character, and competence.  On balance, upon consideration of the evidence and testimony presented, the Board concludes that reinstatement is appropriate at this time.  

CONCLUSION OF LAW


Based on the Findings of Fact, and using the specialized knowledge, training, and experience of its several members, the Maryland State Board of Public Accountancy reaches the following conclusion as a matter of law:  Reinstatement of the petitioner, Arrendondo Conrad Austin, is warranted.

ORDER

In consideration of the Maryland State Board of Public Accountancy’s Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law, it is this 1st day of July, 2024, ORDERED:


1)
That the Petition for Reinstatement of Arrendondo Conrad Austin be, and the same hereby is, APPROVED, subject to payment of any applicable fees;

2)
Mr. Austin shall complete 80 hours of continuing professional education for this license term in compliance with the requirements of COMAR 09.24.02. The Board shall give credit to Mr. Austin for completion of the ethics course if the CPE was earned within two years of his application for reinstatement and he provides documentation to that effect; and

3)
The records, files, and documents of the Maryland State Board of Public Accountancy reflect this decision.
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